RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **04-12-2019**

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018AP2240-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

DAVID M. HAY,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION, ENTERED IN THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL J. APRAHAMIAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

David Hay is prohibited from driving with an alcohol concentration of .02 or above. When law enforcement officers stopped his vehicle and a preliminary breath test indicated an alcohol concentration of .032, Hay refused a request for a blood sample under the implied consent law. Was a warrantless blood draw justified by exigent circumstances because the officers reasonably feared that in the time it would take to obtain a warrant, the alcohol concentration in Hay's blood would dissipate to 0.00, making it impossible to determine his alcohol concentration at the time he drove?

The circuit court answered "no." It concluded that the warrantless blood draw was not justified by exigent circumstances, and therefore granted the motion to suppress the evidence of cocaine that was found in his blood.

This Court should answer "yes" and reverse.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication.¹

INTRODUCTION

The defendant-respondent David Hay drove a car after drinking alcohol and using cocaine. When a police officer encountered him, Hay admitted to drinking. Because of his prior OWI convictions, Hay could not legally drive with a blood alcohol concentration above .02. After a preliminary breath test (PBT) indicated an alcohol concentration of .032,

¹ Two other cases involving similar issues are currently pending in the Wisconsin Court of Appeals: *State v. Paul R. Wickard*, case number 2018AP1937-CR (District II), and *State v. Yancy Kevin Dieter*, case number 2018AP2269-CR (District IV).

the officer arrested Hay for operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration.

After officers searched and secured Hay's car, and transported him to the hospital, an officer read the Informing the Accused form to Hay and requested a blood sample. Hay refused. The officer feared that although the PBT showed an alcohol concentration above the level at which Hay could legally drive, delay in obtaining an evidentiary blood sample posed a risk of Hay's alcohol concentration dissipating to zero. The officer therefore had a phlebotomist draw Hay's blood without obtaining a warrant. A test of that blood sample confirmed the officer's fear—even without taking the time to obtain a warrant, the alcohol concentration in Hay's blood had dissipated to zero. But another test of the blood sample revealed a detectable presence of cocaine.

The issue in this case is whether the warrantless blood draw was justified by exigent circumstances. It was, because a reasonable officer would have feared that delaying the blood draw to obtain a warrant would have risked the destruction of evidence, making a prosecution for operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration impractical, if not impossible. That fear was reasonable, and in fact was borne out in this case, where the evidence was destroyed even without the additional delay. Suppressing the results of the test that revealed cocaine in Hay's system was improper by because the blood draw was justified exigent circumstances. This Court should therefore reverse the circuit court's order suppressing the evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

At approximately 12:50 a.m. on July 6, 2017, City of Brookfield patrol officer Kyle Stommes stopped a vehicle for failing to stop at a yellow light. (R. 68:5, A-App. 113.) Officer Stommes asked the driver—Hay—if he had been drinking. Hay admitted to consuming alcohol. (R. 68:14, A-App. 122.) The officer learned that Hay was prohibited from driving with an alcohol concentration above 0.02. (R. 68:14, A-App. 122.) Officer Hanson arrived and the officers conducted a PBT, which indicated an alcohol concentration of .032. (R. 68:7, 17– 18, A-App. 115, 125–26.) At 1:09 a.m., Officer Stommes arrested Hay for operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration. (R. 68:8, 13, A-App. 116, 121.) The officer searched Hay and placed him in the squad car. (R. 68:8, 13, A-App. 116, 121.) He then searched Hay's car for evidence. (R. 68:8, A-App. 116.) When Officer Turk arrived to stay with Hay's car until it was towed, Officers Stommes and Hanson took Hay to a hospital. (R. 68:8, A-App. 116.) The drive took 10 to 15 minutes. (R. 68:14, A-App. 122.) When they arrived at the hospital, Officer Stommes wrote citations and issued them to Hay. (R. 68:8, A-App. 116.) He then read the Informing the Accused form to Hay and requested a blood sample. (R. 68:8–9, A-App. 116–17.) Hay refused at around 1:45 a.m. (R. 68:9, 22, A-App. 117, 130.)

From his four years of experience as a patrol officer in the city of Brookfield, Officer Stommes believed that it would take "[a]n hour, hour and a half" to obtain a warrant. (R. 68:4– 5, 25, A-App. 112–13, 133.) He understood that alcohol typically dissipates in the bloodstream at a rate of .015 to 0.02 per hour. (R. 68:12, A-App. 120.) Officer Stommes believed that due to Hay being prohibited from driving with an alcohol concentration above .02, the PBT result of .032, and the time that had elapsed, there was insufficient time to get a warrant without risking the destruction of evidence. (R. 68:9, A-App. 117.) At 1:51 a.m., he contacted the on-call assistant district attorney, Abbey Nickolie, who advised the officer to administer a warrantless blood draw. (R. 68:9–10, A-App. 117–18.) Officer Stommes took Hay into the hospital and asked for a phlebotomist to conduct a blood draw. (R. 68:10, A-App. 118.) A phlebotomist drew Hay's blood at 2:25 a.m. (R. 68:11, A-App. 119.) Analysis of the blood sample showed an

alcohol concentration of 0.00. But it also revealed the presence of cocaine. (R. 68:12.)

The State charged Hay with operating a motor vehicle with a detectable presence of a restricted controlled substance (RCS) in his blood, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am). (R. 4; 18, A-App. 101–05.) Because Hay had five prior OWI convictions, the charge was for RCS as a sixth offense. (R. 4; 18, A-App. 101–05.)

Hay moved to suppress the blood test results, on the ground that the warrantless blood draw was not justified by exigent circumstances. (R. 30, A-App. 106–08.) After briefing (R. 33; 37), and a hearing (R. 68, A-App. 109–157), the circuit court, the Honorable Michael J. Aprahamian, granted Hay's motion (R. 46, A-App. 158–172). The court viewed the issue as "whether law enforcement's concern that a suspect's blood alcohol concentration may dissipate below the suspect's .02 legal limit in the time that it would take to obtain a blood warrant from a magistrate, by itself, constitutes exigent circumstances to proceed with a warrantless blood draw." (R. 46:1, A-App. 158.) The court concluded that it would not, so suppression of evidence was required. (R. 46:8–13, A-App. 165–170.) The State moved for reconsideration (R. 50), but the circuit court denied the motion (R. 51). The State now appeals the circuit court's orders under Wis. Stat. § 974.05.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court reviews an order granting or denying a suppression motion as a question of constitutional fact. State v. Howes, 2017 WI 18, ¶ 17, 373 Wis. 2d 468, 893 N.W.2d 812. The court engages in a two-step inquiry when it decides a question of constitutional fact. *Id.* First, it applies a deferential standard when it reviews the circuit court's findings of historical fact, upholding them unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶ 27, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120. Second, the court independently applies the constitutional principles to the historical facts. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

Exigent circumstances justified the drawing of Hay's blood without a warrant.

A. Applicable legal principles

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect against unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wis. Const. art. I, § 11; *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 21. "The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness. The Fourth Amendment does not proscribe all state-initiated searches and seizures; it merely proscribes those which are unreasonable." *Tullberg*, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶ 29 (citation omitted). While a warrantless search is presumptively unreasonable, a court will uphold the search if it falls within an exception to the warrant requirement. *Id.* ¶ 30.

The exigent circumstances doctrine is an exception to the warrant requirement. *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141, 148–49 (2013)). Under this doctrine, "a warrantless search complies with the Fourth Amendment if the need for a search is urgent and insufficient time to obtain a warrant exists." *Tullberg*, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶ 30. Courts have identified four categories of exigent circumstances, including: (1) hot pursuit; (2) a threat to a suspect or another person's safety; (3) the risk of the destruction of evidence; and (4) the likelihood of a suspect's flight. *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 24.

A blood draw constitutes a Fourth Amendment search. Howes, 373 Wis. 2d 468, \P 20. A warrantless blood draw is reasonable when exigent circumstances are present if the following additional requirements are met: (1) the blood draw is taken to obtain evidence of intoxication from a person lawfully arrested for a drunk-driving related violation or crime,

(2) there is a clear indication that the blood draw will produce evidence of intoxication,

(3) the method used to take the blood sample is a reasonable one and performed in a reasonable manner, and

(4) the arrestee presents no reasonable objection to the blood draw.

Id. \P 25 (citation omitted).

"Evidence of a crime is destroyed as alcohol is eliminated from the bloodstream of a drunken driver." *Tullberg*, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶ 42 (citing *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 152. "In an OWI case, the natural dissipation of alcohol in the bloodstream may present a risk that evidence will be destroyed and may therefore support a finding of exigency in a specific case." *State v. Dalton*, 2018 WI 85, ¶ 40, 383 Wis. 2d 147, 914 N.W.2d 120 (citing *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 156).

"[W]hile the natural dissipation of alcohol in the blood may support a finding of exigency in a specific case . . . it does not do so categorically." *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 156; *see also Dalton*, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶ 42. But "*McNeely* did not create a per se rule that a warrantless blood draw based on the natural dissipation of alcohol from the bloodstream is never reasonable." *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 41 (citing *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 165.) Instead, the Supreme Court "validated the foundation of its decision in [*Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757 (1966)]; specifically, dissipation of alcohol from the bloodstream may justify an officer's warrantless blood draw." *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 42.

Courts have recognized the ability of experts to extrapolate the blood alcohol concentration when the offense occurred, based on the blood alcohol concentration level in the sample. *Dalton*, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶ 40. The supreme court has

also recognized the increased need for a prompt blood draw when the driver is subject to the lower 0.02 prohibited blood alcohol concentration threshold. *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 45 (lead op.). However, once a person's blood alcohol reaches 0.00, "it would be impossible to calculate what his blood alcohol level was at the time of the [driving or crash]." *Id*.

Because alcohol dissipates from the bloodstream, and because of the importance of the blood alcohol evidence, "exigent circumstances to justify a warrantless blood draw 'may arise in the regular course of law enforcement due to delays from the warrant application process." *Id.* (quoting *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 156).

"Whether a warrantless blood test of a drunk-driving suspect is reasonable must be determined case by case based on the totality of the circumstances." *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 156; *see also Dalton*, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶ 42. "Courts must determine whether the police officers under the circumstances known to them at the time reasonably believed that a delay in procuring a warrant would risk the destruction of evidence." *Dalton*, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶ 43.

B. Exigent circumstances justified drawing Hay's blood without a warrant.

Officer Stommes placed Hay under arrest for operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration above .02 based on Hay's admission to having consumed alcohol, the officer's observation of the odor of intoxicants emanating from Hay, and the PBT result. (R. 68:7, 14–15, 17–18, A-App. 115, 122– 23, 125–26.) After the arrest, Officer Stommes had no reason to believe that Hay would refuse a request for a blood draw. But after Hay did refuse, the officer reasonably believed that a delay to obtain a warrant would risk the destruction of evidence that Hay had driven with a prohibited alcohol concentration. Officer Stommes knew that the PBT he had administered showed an alcohol concentration of .032. (R. 68:7, 17–18, A-App. 115, 125–26.) That result does not mean that the alcohol concentration in Hay's blood was exactly .032. A PBT is not a blood test, nor is it even an evidentiary breath test. It is a qualitative rather than a quantitative test. *State* v. Rocha-Mayo, 2014 WI 57, ¶ 107, 355 Wis. 2d 85, 848 N.W.2d 832. It is "a test of a person's breath, the results of which indicate the presence or absence of alcohol." *Id.* (quoting Wis. Admin. Code § TRANS 311.03(12) (2012)). So, while Officer Stommes had probable cause that Hay's alcohol concentration was above .02, he did not know if it was .032, somewhat higher than .032, or somewhat lower than .032.

Officer Stommes understood that alcohol typically dissipates in the bloodstream at a rate of .015 to .02 percent per hour. (R. 68:12, A-App. 120.) The Supreme Court of Wisconsin has recognized that in some cases, the range of dissipation rates can be even larger. "Alcohol dissipates from the bloodstream at a rate of 0.01 percent to 0.025 percent per hour." *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 45, (quoting *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 167 (Roberts, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part)).

Given the uncertainty regarding exactly what Hay's alcohol concentration was when the PBT was administered, and without knowing exactly how fast Hay's body would metabolize the alcohol he had ingested, there was no way to know exactly how much time the officer had to draw a blood sample that could be used for evidentiary purposes. But it is beyond dispute that if Hay's blood were drawn after his alcohol concentration had fallen to 0.00, an expert could not give an opinion about what his alcohol concentration was at the time he drove. As the supreme court noted in *Howes*, once a person's blood alcohol reaches 0.00, "it would be impossible to calculate what his blood alcohol level was at the time of the [driving]." *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 45. With no test that

quantified Hay's alcohol concentration, and no expert testimony, prosecution for the offense for which officers arrested Hay—operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration—would be so impractical as to be impossible.

With only the PBT test result, and without knowing how fast Hay's body metabolizes alcohol, the officer could not know for certain how much time he had in which to administer a blood draw that could be used to prove Hay guilty of PAC. Given the PBT showing an alcohol concentration of .032, and with the understanding that a person typically metabolizes alcohol at a rate between .015 to 0.02 percent per hour (R. 68:12, A-App. 120), or the supreme court's recognition that the outer limits of the range are .01 to .025 percent per hour, *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 45, a reasonable officer would have believed that he had between one and two hours in which to obtain a blood sample before Hay's alcohol concentration dissipated to 0.00. In retrospect, the officer had less than 76 minutes. By the time the phlebotomist drew Hay's blood, at 2:25 a.m.-76 minutes after officers arrested him-Hay's blood alcohol concentration had dissipated to 0.00.

Officer Stommes testified that, based on his four years of experience as a patrol officer for the City of Brookfield, which included approximately 20 OWI arrests, he knew that it would take "[a]n hour, hour and a half" to obtain a warrant. (R. 68:4–5, 25, A-App. 112–13, 133.) It is unclear exactly when Hay's alcohol concentration fell to zero, so it is unclear how much less than 76 minutes after the arrest the officer had in which to obtain a usable blood sample. But a blood draw conducted 76 minutes after the arrest was too late—the alcohol concentration had dissipated to 0.00.

The officer's fear that a delay of 60 to 90 minutes might risk the destruction of evidence was eminently reasonable. Obtaining a warrant after Hay refused and made clear that the officers could not obtain a consensual blood draw, would have resulted in the complete destruction of the best available evidence of the crime.

The warrantless blood draw based on exigent circumstances was also reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. There is no dispute that the blood was drawn to obtain evidence of intoxication, there was a clear indication that the blood would produce evidence of intoxication, the blood was drawn by medical personnel in a hospital, and Hay did not reasonably object. See Howes, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 25. Hay did refuse the request for a blood sample, but he did not object "on grounds of fear, concern for health, or religious scruple." Id. ¶ 25 n.8. The search was therefore reasonable.

C. The circuit court erred in finding no exigency because it did not consider the fact that Hay's blood alcohol concentration could have fallen—and did fall—to 0.00.

The circuit court concluded that the warrantless blood draw was not justified by exigent circumstances. (R. 48:13.) The court did not find that Officer Stommes' testimony was not credible, or even express doubt about anything the officer said. The court seemingly concluded, however, that the officer should have deviated from departmental policy in order to speed up the process of obtaining a search warrant for a blood sample.

The court stated that this was "a run-of the mill OWI investigation," with no accident, injury, medical emergency, or crime scene investigation. (R. 46:8, A-App. 165.) And the court noted that the officer had probable cause to arrest Hay, "at the very latest, 19 minutes after the initial traffic stop." (R. 46:8, A-App. 165.)

The court claimed that the State argued that this case presented exigent circumstances because "when a suspect's PBT reading is close to the suspect's legal limit, that fact standing alone—constitutes exigent circumstances supporting a warrantless blood draw." (R. 46:8–9, A-App. 165–66.) The court said that "presumably, the State would find exigent circumstances when the PBT is .09, just above the standard legal limit of .08, because of the same fear of losing evidence." (R. 46:9, A-App. 166.)

However, the State did not assert in the circuit court, and is not asserting on appeal, that a PBT showing an alcohol concentration slightly above or below .08 would—alone constitute an exigent circumstance justifying a warrantless blood draw. When there is a blood test indicating an alcohol concentration above 0.00, an expert may be able to estimate the person's blood alcohol concentration at an earlier time. See Howes, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 45; Dalton, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶ 40. If, for instance, a person subject to the .08 standard is administered a PBT which shows a result of .09, and an evidentiary blood test that is later administered reveals a blood alcohol concentration to estimate what the person's alcohol concentration was at the time of driving. Dalton, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶ 40.

The State argued that this case is unlike a .08 case because when a person is subject to the .02 standard, and a PBT gives a result that is relatively close to zero, there is a real risk that the person's alcohol concentration will fall to zero before a test is performed. (R.68:27–37, A-App. 135–45.) If it does, an expert cannot estimate what the person's alcohol concentration was when he drove. *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 45.

The circuit court correctly noted that "the officer typically does not know when the driver consumed his or her last drink, and thus does not know which side of the blood alcohol curve the driver is on." (R. 46:9, A-App. 166.) The court said that "[a] reading of .01 for a driver with a .02 restriction, or .07 for a driver with a .08 restriction, would arguably support a showing of exigent circumstances due to the potential destruction of evidence a delay in obtaining a blood warrant may cause." (R. 46:8, A-App. 165.)

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