## **RECEIVED**

06-07-2019

## STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS - DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018AP2240-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

DAVID M. HAY,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Appeal from an Order Granting a
Motion to Suppress Evidence and an
Order Denying Reconsideration,
Entered in Waukesha County Circuit Court, the
Honorable Michael J. Aprahamian, Presiding.

### RESPONSE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

MARK R. THOMPSON Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1107841

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2124 thompsonm@opd.wi.gov

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

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. Police Lacked the Exigent Circumstances Necessary to Justify Drawing Mr. Hay's Blood without a Warrant.
  - A. Constitutional principles and standard of review

An appeal of an order regarding the suppression of evidence is a question of constitutional fact, and appellate review involves a two-step inquiry. *State v. Howes*, 2017 WI 18, ¶17, 373 Wis. 2d 468, 893 N.W.2d 812. First, this court applies a deferential standard to a trial court's findings of historical fact, and upholds those findings unless they

are clearly erroneous. *State v. Tullberg*, 2014 WI 134, ¶27, 359 Wis. 2d 421, 857 N.W.2d 120. Second, this court independently applies constitutional principles to the historical facts. *Id*.

The Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution provide that citizens have the right to be free from unreasonable searches. State v. Dalton, 2018 WI 85, ¶38, 383 Wis. 2d 147, 914 N.W.2d 120. The ultimate measure of a government search under the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness. Tullberg, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶29. In defining the Fourth Amendment's touchstone of reasonableness, the United States and Wisconsin Courts Supreme have repeatedly held that searches conducted without a warrant are "per se unreasonable . . . subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions." Los Angeles v. Patel, 135 S. Ct. 2443, 2452 (2015) (quoting Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 338 (2009).

For Fourth Amendment purposes, blood draws are searches. *State v. Blackman*, 2017 WI 77, ¶53, 377 Wis. 2d 339, 898 N.W.2d 774. Thus, a warrantless blood draw is per se unreasonable unless an exception to the warrant requirement applies. *Id*.

Exceptions to the warrant requirement are "jealously and carefully drawn" because "search warrants are an essential safeguard against government overreaching." *Jones v. United States*, 357 U.S. 493, 499 (1958); *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶97, 327 Wis.2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. The state bears the burden of proving that one of the narrowly-

drawn exceptions to the warrant requirement exists, so as to justify a warrantless search. *Blackman*, 377 Wis. 2d 339, ¶¶4–6, 53–54.

One of the few exceptions to the warrant requirement is exigent circumstances. *Dalton*, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶39. This exception "applies when the exigencies of the situation make the needs of law enforcement so compelling that the warrantless search is objectively reasonable under the Fourth Amendment." *State v. Parisi*, 2016 WI 10, ¶29, 367 Wis. 2d 1, 875 Wis. 2d 619 (citing *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141, 148–49 (2013)).

The test for determining whether exigent circumstances exist is an objective one. *Tullberg*, 359 Wis. 2d 421, ¶41. Courts conducting this analysis in the context of a warrantless blood draw consider whether "police officers under the circumstances known to them at the time reasonably believed that a delay in procuring a warrant would risk the destruction of evidence." *Dalton*, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶43.

The United States and Wisconsin Supreme Courts recognize that evidence of blood alcohol content becomes less reliable with the passage of time. See, e.g., McNeely, 569 U.S. at 145; Dalton, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶42; see also Wis. Stat. § 885.235(3) (providing that blood that is taken over three hours after the point of driving is no longer automatically admissible). But the natural dissipation of alcohol in a driver's bloodstream does not create a per se

exigency allowing police to forego the warrant requirement before drawing blood. *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 145; *Dalton*, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶42. Instead, the state must prove, on a case-by-case basis, whether exigent circumstances existed to justify a warrantless blood draw. *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 145. The state's burden to prove that exigent circumstances justified a warrantless search a heavy one. *Welsh v. Wisconsin*, 466 U.S. 740, 749–50 (1984).

Notably, in *McNeely*, the Supreme Court re-affirmed that warrants are the rule rather than the exception: "In those drunk-driving investigations where police officers can reasonably obtain a warrant before a blood sample can be drawn without significantly undermining the efficacy of the search, the Fourth Amendment *mandates* that they do so." *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 152. (emphasis added).

The Court in *McNeely* stressed that advancing technology allows law enforcement to obtain warrants remotely via telephone, radio, email, and video conference—thereby reducing the time and effort needed to get a warrant. *Id.* at 154–55. *Id.* The Court illustrated the manner in which these advancements can expedite the warrant-seeking process:

Consider, for example, a situation in which the warrant process will not significantly increase the delay before the blood test is conducted because an officer can take steps to secure a warrant while the suspect is being transported to a medical facility by another officer. In

such a circumstance, there would be no plausible justification for an exception to the warrant requirement.

Id. at 153–54. The Supreme Court of Wisconsin similarly recognized the role advancing technology plays in expediting the warrant-procurement process. See State v. Kennedy, 2014 WI 132, ¶30, 359 Wis. 2d 454, 856 N.W.2d 834.

In accordance with *McNeely*, it should only occur in rare and unique circumstances that police need to "undermin[e] the neutral magistrate judge's essential role as a check on police discretion" by forcing an individual's blood without first obtaining a warrant. *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 155. The facts of this case do not present such circumstances, and it was proper for the circuit court to order suppression.

B. The officers in this case were not forced to make split-second decisions in uncertain or rapidly-evolving circumstances, and the state therefore failed to prove that a genuine exigency justified the warrantless blood draw.

The police in this case arrested Mr. Hay nineteen minutes after they stopped him. At that time, there were two officers on the scene, and a third officer arrived thereafter. At no point did any of the three officers attempt to obtain a warrant; instead, they merely adhered to routine policies for OWI investigations—which strongly suggests that an actual exigency did not exist.

Exigent circumstances "may arise in the regular course of law enforcement," *McNeely*, 569 U.S. at 156, but any warrantless search based on exigent circumstances "must, of course, be supported by a genuine exigency." *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452, 470 (2016). When objectively analyzing the circumstances in a particular case, "[t]he calculus of reasonableness must embody allowance for the fact that police officers are often forced to make split-second judgments—in circumstances that are tense, uncertain, and rapidly evolving." *Id.* at 466.

Since *McNeely* was decided, several Wisconsin cases have engaged in totality-of-the-circumstances analyses to illustrate the circumstances in which genuine exigencies necessitated conducting a blood draw without a warrant. Common throughout these cases are situations which are fluid, oftentimes tense or uncertain, and rapidly evolving.

In Tullberg, the court analyzed a warrantless blood draw following a fatal car crash. 359 Wis. 2d 421. Police arrived at the scene approximately thirty minutes after the crash, and neither any witnesses nor the defendant were at the scene. Id., ¶¶. 9, 45. Mr. Tullberg's father arrived a few minutes after the first responding officer and appeared frantic. Id., ¶¶10, 45. Police spent approximately thirty minutes investigating the scene, during which they found a deceased man under the crashed vehicle. Id., ¶9. Police then travelled to a hospital, which was thirty minutes away, to interview Mr. Tullberg. Id., ¶¶ 11, 46. At the hospital, Mr. Tullberg appeared intoxicated and mislead the officer by claiming that

the deceased man drove the car. Id., ¶¶ 12, 14 & 47. After further investigation, the interviewing officer subsequently learned that Mr. Tullberg's account was incredible, and ultimately determined that Mr. Tullberg operated the vehicle while intoxicated. Id., ¶17.

Due to the additional investigation required, it was not until "more than two and a half hours after the accident" that police had sufficient probable cause to believe that Mr. Tullberg had been driving under the influence. Id., ¶¶19, 47. At that point, hospital staff were about to perform a CT scan on Mr. Tullberg. Id., ¶¶18, 48. The officer then instructed medical staff to conduct a warrantless draw of Mr. Tullberg's blood.

The court in *Tullberg* concluded that the officer did not improperly delay obtaining a warrant because he "did not have probable cause to believe Tullberg operated the motor vehicle while under the influence . . . until nearly three hours after the accident." *Id.*, ¶44. Furthermore, the court noted that the officer was presented with a rapidly evolving situation, during which he had to respond to the accident, secure the scene, and investigate the matter, which "ultimately left [him] with a very narrow time frame" in which to draw Mr. Tullberg's blood. *Id.*, ¶50.

The court in *Howes* placed similar emphasis on the volatility of the situation presented to the officer, which ultimately delayed his ability to determine probable cause for an arrest or a warrant. *Howes*, 373 Wis. 2d 468. The court found exigent circumstances

existed because of (1) delays due to Mr. Howes's medical condition, which required a CT scan, (2) the officer's need to direct traffic and investigate the scene of the crash, and (3) the fact that Mr. Howes was unconscious, and the officer did not have probable cause to believe Mr. Howes was intoxicated until after he spoke with medical professionals at the hospital. Id.,  $\P 46-49$ . The timing of the officer's ability to determine probable cause again proved critical this Court's finding of to exigent circumstances: "the present case is not one in which the officer could have obtained a warrant on the way to the hospital because he did not have probable cause to obtain a warrant then." *Id.*, ¶49.

The court in *Howes* further recognized that Mr. Howes had a .02 driving restriction, which "increased the need for a prompt blood draw." *Id.*, ¶45. The court did not, however, hold that this fact, on its own, would support a finding of exigent circumstances. *Id.* Instead, the court noted that this fact was relevant "in addition" to Mr. Howes's medical condition, the officer's countervailing law enforcement duties, and the fact that Mr. Howes was unconscious. *Id.* 

Dalton similarly involved a car crash with a "complicated," "fluid," and "chaotic" sequence of events. Dalton, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶44, 49. Mr. Dalton was unconscious, smelled of alcohol, and had to be airlifted to a hospital via helicopter. Id., ¶7. The car's passenger told police that Mr. Dalton was drinking and drove the car. Id. One officer accompanied Mr. Dalton to wait for the helicopter, subsequently

drove to a different hospital to interview the passenger, and then drove to the hospital Mr. Dalton was airlifted to. Id., ¶9, 10. Four other officers remained on the scene to investigate the crash, interview witnesses, and ensure the safety of travelers. Id., ¶8. Nearly two hours after the crash, Mr. Dalton, who had regained consciousness after receiving emergency medical treatment, was arrested and refused a blood draw. Id., ¶13. The officer believed there were exigent circumstances and ordered a warrantless blood draw shortly thereafter. Id., ¶14.

The court in *Dalton* emphasized that it was "not in the business of second-guessing" police actions in "a complex and evolving situation." Id., ¶49 (citing United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 11 (1989), which explained "that courts do not indulge in unrealistic second-guessing' of police's 'swift, on-thespot decisions"). It explained that the officers' decisions to tend to Mr. Dalton's and the passengers' medical needs, examine and secure the scene, obtain evidence, and ensure the safety of other passengers, were all reasonable choices made at the expense of getting a warrant. Id.,  $\P 45-47$ . The court also noted that more than half of the on-duty officers were attending to the crash, and because other officers were busy responding to other incidents and patrolling the county, there were no available officers to prioritize getting a warrant. *Id.*, ¶48.

Mr. Hay's case did not entail the on-the-spot decision making or rapidly evolving facts presented in *Tullberg*, *Howes*, and *Dalton*. Officers Stommes,

Hanson, or Turk were neither forced to make swift or split-second decisions, nor prioritize pressing and countervailing law enforcement obligations over obtaining a warrant. See Dalton, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶50 ("The police have complex and multiple tasks to perform in addition to identifying and apprehending committing serious criminal offenses,' including "aid[ing] individuals who are in danger of physical harm" and "provid[ing] other services on an emergency basis." (citing Wayne R. LaFave, Search & Seizure, § 6.6 (5th ed.)). There were no witnesses to interview or substantial evidence to gather. Mr. Hay was alert and responsive throughout, did not require medical attention, and his immediate availability for testing was not in question. He did not attempt to mislead the officers in a manner that stifled their investigation. Mr. Hay's vehicle was safely parked at a gas station, and there was no need to direct traffic around it. In contrast to the fluid situations in Tullberg, Dalton, and Howes, the facts of this case were relatively static.

The circuit court correctly acknowledged that this involved "run-of-the-mill" **OWI** case a investigation. (46:8). Police in this case had probable cause to believe that Mr. Hay violated his PAC no later than nineteen minutes after he was stopped, and they promptly arrested him. At that time, Mr. Hay's PBT revealed the presence of alcohol, and the result of that PBT was relatively close to Mr. Hay's .02 restriction. A reasonable officer—who would be aware that blood dissipates at a rate of .015 to .2 percent per hour—would have believed he had

between one and two hours to obtain a blood sample before Mr. Hay metabolized all of the alcohol in his body. (State's Br. at 9). At this point, when the driver is responsive, uninjured, and securely contained in the squad car, police could have reasonably begun, or requested assistance with, obtaining a warrant.

Although there were two officers on scene at the time of Mr. Hay's arrest, neither of them prioritized getting a warrant. Officer Stommes adhered to departmental policy by calling for a third officer to wait for a tow truck and searching Mr. Hay's vehicle. Officer Hanson merely stood by to "monitor" Mr. Hay, who was responsive, securely handcuffed, and buckled into the back seat of the squad car. (68:8, 15–16, 17, 19; A-App. 116, 123–24, 125, 127). Furthermore, both officers had to wait at the scene for Officer Turk, who arrived to "sit" with Mr. Hay's vehicle and wait for a tow truck. (68:8; A-App. 116). Officer Stommes never asked Officer Hanson or Turk to begin processing a warrant, or to search the vehicle or call for backup while he began the process of obtaining a warrant. (68:10; A-App. 118). Unlike the situations in *Tullberg*, *Dalton*, and Howes, the three responding officers in this case were not overwhelmed by competing and pressing obligations that took priority over obtaining a warrant.

While the court in *McNeely* acknowledged that the "routine"-ness of a stop is not dispositive for a Fourth Amendment reasonableness inquiry, it explained that "other factors present in an ordinary traffic stop, such as the procedures in place for

obtaining a warrant or the availability of a magistrate judge, may affect whether the police can obtain a warrant in an expeditious way." 569 U.S. at 164. Despite the fact that a reasonable officer would have believed he had one to two hours to obtain a valid blood sample, the officers in this case did not even attempt to obtain a warrant or inquire as to the availability of a magistrate judge.

Furthermore, there was no indication that the officers ever attempted to contact the on-duty judge in accordance with Wis. Stat. § 968.12(3) to expedite the warrant procurement process. See McNeely, 569 U.S. at 154–55 (recognizing that "technological developments" exist which enable officers to "secure warrants more quickly"). The state ultimately failed to meet its heavy burden in this case to show that procedures for obtaining a warrant or unavailability of a magistrate frustrated the officers' ability to obtain a warrant expeditiously.

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